IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER 85,014

JOSE JIMENEZ,

Appellant,

VS.

FILED

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AUS 5 1996

A CAPITAL APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY

CRIMINAL DIVISION

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. RAFAEL RODRIGUEZ
Specially Appointed Public
Defender for Jose Jimenez
LAW OFFICES OF
J. RAFAEL RODRIGUEZ
6367 Bird Road
Miami, Florida 33155
(305) 667-4445
(305) 667-4118 (FAX)

Oral Argument Requested

INTRODUCTION

Appellant was the Defendant in the trial court and Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecution. The parties will be referred to as they stood in the lower court. The symbol "R" will designate the record on appeal, and "T" will designate the trial transcript.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has appeal jurisdiction in this case. Defendant was sentenced to death. Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, provides that the Florida Supreme Court has jurisdiction of final orders of courts imposing sentences of death.

See also Section 921.141(4), Florida Statutes.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Guilt Phase

Defendant Jose Jimenez was charged by Indictment with one count of First Degree Murder, in violation of Section 782.04(1) and 775.087, Florida Statutes, and one count of Burglary of a Dwelling, in violation of Section 810.02(2)(a), Florida Statutes. In particular, it was alleged that on or about October 2, 1992, Defendant entered the home of Phyllis Minas without her consent and killed Phyllis Minas by stabbing her with a sharp knife-like object. (R. 1-3).

On June 22, 1994, several months before commencement of trial in this cause, the trial court conducted a hearing on an alleged

conflict between Defendant and his court-appointed second chair counsel, Mr. Kassier. After conducting the hearing, the court denied the motion to withdraw by Mr. Kassier and Defendant's motion for discharge. (T. 173-183).

On September 27, 1994, the defense filed a motion to suppress statements. (R. 194-196). On September 29, 1994, Defendant's motion to suppress statements was addressed by the trial court. At the hearing, the defense specifically requested that Defendant's statements to the arresting detectives made prior to the reading of his Miranda rights and Defendant's statements made to his probation officer be suppressed. (T. 222). The defense stipulated to the deposition of Rochelle Baron, Defendant's probation officer, in lieu of her live testimony. (T. 223). The State announced its intention not to use the statements to the detectives. However, the prosecution maintained that the statements to the probation officer were admissible and would be used. (T. 225-226). agreed to review the probation officer's deposition (R. 207-221), and announce a decision on the first day of trial. (T. 229). On October 3, 1994, the court denied the motion to suppress. (R. 13; R. 196; R. 201-206; T. 235-236).

After the court's denial of the motion to suppress, trial commenced in the cause. (R. 515). During jury selection, the court conducted sidebar conferences to rule on cause challenges of prospective jurors. Defendant was not present at these sidebar conferences. (T. 262-266; T. 338-340). Following voir dire, a jury

was selected and sworn. (R. 515-517; T. 457). The court then gave the jury preliminary instructions. (T. 457-461).

The following day, the court considered a defense objection to a late fingerprint comparison report provided by the prosecution. The court conducted a Richardson hearing. The State announced that four latents of value had been lifted from the crime scene. technician, Mr. McQuay, had previously matched one of the prints to Defendant. The prosecutor had asked the technician that very day to compare the remaining prints with the victim. McQuay had now matched the remaining prints with the victim. The assistant state attorney stated that the State had the intention of using this new information in the event the defense were to make an issue of the previously unmatched prints. The trial court made a finding that the State was complying with its ongoing discovery obligations. (T. 471-474). During trial, the court conducted a second Richardson hearing on the State's failure to list the custodian of records for the Medical Examiner's Officer as a predicate witness for the victim's standard prints. The court ruled that although there had been a discovery violation, there was no prejudice because the defense was aware of the State's intention to introduce the medical examiner's records at trial. (T. 672-675).

On another matter, the court reserved ruling on whether Rochelle Baron could be identified as Defendant's community control officer when she testified and whether the nature of Defendant's prior conviction could be revealed to the jury. (T. 477-480). During trial, the defense moved to prohibit mention of Baron's

occupation or law enforcement relationship with Defendant. The court granted this request. (R. 416; T. 695-696).

The State presented an opening statement. (R. 412; T. 483-488). Defendant's counsel thereafter presented opening statement. (R. 412; T. 488-493).

At trial, the State called various witnesses in its case-inchief. During the course of Detective Ronald Pearce's cross-examination, the State objected to certain questions concerning the search of Defendant's apartment as outside the scope of direct examination. The defense insisted that questions into this area was permissible in light of Pearce's role as the lead crime scene investigator. The court sustained the State's objection, ruling that Pearce could be called by the defense in its case. (T. 559-560; T. 562-563).

Subsequently, during the cross-examination of Detective Anthony Ojeda, the State objected to questions concerning the search of Defendant's apartment as outside the scope of direct examination. The defense insisted that the questions into this area were permissible, especially in light of Ojeda's role as lead investigator. The trial court prohibited the defense from questioning Ojeda in this area as the questions were outside the

Prior to opening statements, the defense mentioned a newspaper article printing out that morning concerning **a** murder very similar to the facts in the present case and requested a jury inquiry. (T. 468-469). The court later inquired of the jury if any of the jurors **had read** anything in the newspaper that would have had an impact on them in the case. One of the jurors stated: "Just that there **was a murder."** The juror, however, answered that the matter would **not** have an impact on him in this case. (T. 482).

scope of direct examination. (T. 755-758). The trial court also prohibited Defendant from askingOjeda about the particulars of Defendant's arrest warrant, ruling that the questions would elicit hearsay responses. In particular, the defense was not permitted to question Ojeda about Officer Cardona's identification of Defendant at the scene. (T. 765-770).²

Following testimony of Rochelle Baron, the State rested its case. (R. 417; T. 776). Defendant presented his arguments on a motion for judgment of acquittal. (T. 776-783). The court denied the motion. (R. 417; T. 783-785). Thereafter, the court conducted the charge conference.³ The defense submitted two special instructions. The court denied the proffered circumstantial evidence and fingerprint instructions. (R. 403-407; T. 791-812).

The defense called three (3) witnesses. Thereafter, the defense rested its case. (R. 418; T. 869). The State recalled Detective Ojeda on rebuttal. At the end of Ojeda's testimony, the State rested its rebuttal case. (R. 419; T. 874). The defense renewed all previous motions, including the motion for judgment of acquittal. The court denied the motion for judgment of acquittal and re-affirmed its prior rulings. (R. 419; T. 875-877).

Counsel for the State presented closing argument. (R. 419; T. 880-891). The defense then presented closing argument. (R. 419; T.

The defense later announced that it would not be calling Officer Cardona. (T. 788).

The defense requested two lesser included offense instructions for first degree murder: second degree murder and manslaughter. (T. 793).

891-910). Counsel for the prosecution presented a rebuttal closing argument. (R. 420; T. 911-931).

Subsequently, the court instructed the jury. (R. 420; R. 422-448; T. 931-951). The jury retired to deliberate. (R. 420; T. 952). Thereafter, the court reconvened to accept the jury's verdicts. Defendant was found guilty on both counts. (R. 421; R. 449-450; T. 957). The jury was polled. (R. 421; T. 957-958). The court adjudged Defendant guilty on both counts. (R. 421; R. 451-452; T. 961).

Penalty Phase

On November 10, 1994, December 8, 1994, and December 14, 1994, the trial court conducted the penalty phase and sentencing hearings. At the November 10th hearing, the parties stipulated to Defendant's prior convictions for resisting with violence and possession of stolen property. (T. 979; T. 998-999). The court reserved ruling on the prosecution's motion in limine for order to prohibit Defendant's expert from testifying that Defendant was high on drugs on the date of the offense. (R. 475-476; T. 975-979).

The court gave the jury preliminary instructions for the penalty phase. (T. 983-984). The State presented the testimony of two (2) witnesses. (R. 513). After Probation Officer Lennox's testimony, the State presented the judgment of burglary entered

The State moved to dismiss Defendant's pending community control violation case. (T. 961-962),

against Defendant in this case. (T. 1009-1110). The State rested. (R. 513; T. 1011).

Thereafter, after argument, the court denied the State's motion in limine for an order prohibiting Defendant's expert from testifying that Defendant was possibly under the influence of drugs at the time of the incident. (T. 1012-1019; T. 1029-1034). The defense presented the testimony of Defendant's father and sister and Dr. Schwartz. (R. 513-514). The defense rested. (R. 514; T. 1081).

The court conducted a charge conference on the penalty phase. The State sought several aggravating factors: 1) Commission of crime while Defendant on community control; 2) Defendant's prior felony conviction; 3) Commission of crime while Defendant engaged in the commission of, or attempt to commit, burglary; 4) Heinous, atrocious or cruel; and 5) Pecuniary gain. The defense objected to heinous, atrocious or cruel and pecuniary gain. The court overruled Defendant's objections to heinous, atrocious or cruel, but sustained the objections to pecuniary gain. (T. 1072-1077). The court granted Defendant's request for a mitigation instruction on Defendant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his actions. (T. 1082-1083).

The court gave the jury preliminary instructions. (T. 1083-1084). The prosecution presented a penalty phase argument. (R. 514; T. 1084-1097). The defense presented its penalty phase argument. (R. 514; T. 1097-1106). The court instructed the jury. (R. 501-511; R. 514; T. 1106-1111). After deliberations, the jury

returned a unanimous verdict recommending the death penalty. (R. 487; R. 514; T. 1113). The jury was polled. (T. 1113-1114).

On December 8, 1994, at the sentencing hearing, Defendant presented a letter from his mother for the court's consideration.

(T. 1122-1123). Defendant himself addressed the court. (T. 1123-1127). The defense made an argument against imposition of the death penalty, specifically questioning the applicability of the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious or cruel. (T. 1128-1131). The prosecution argued for the death penalty, pointing out the violation of the sanctity of the victim's home. The State noted Defendant's total lack of remorse or acceptance of responsibility.

(T. 1131-1133). The court reset the sentencing for December 14, 1994. (T. 1134).

On December 14th, the court announced that it had prepared an order.' The trial judge imposed the death penalty. (R. 545; T. 1158). The court made certain findings on the record. (T. 1140-1158). As to Count II, burglary, the court imposed a sentence of life imprisonment. The term of imprisonment was ordered to run consecutive to the imposition of death. (R. 546-547; T. 1159).8

The defense presented a sentencing memorandum. (R. 494-500).

 $^{^{\}rm 6}$ The prosecution also filed a sentencing memorandum. (R. 520-528).

⁷ A sentencing order was prepared and filed. (R. 529-543).

Defendant's guideline scoresheet on the burglary count provided for a recommended sentence of $5\ 1/2$ to $7\ years$, and a permitted range of $4\ 1/2$ to $9\ years$. (R. 548). The court departed from the guidelines on the basis of an unscorable capital offense. (T. 1159).

In December 20, 1994, Defendant filed a notice of appeal. (R. 551). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guilt Phase

At trial, Detective Ronald Pearce, City of North Miami Police Department, testified that on October 2, 1992, he was assigned to the crime scene unit. Pearce stated that he responded to 13725 N.W. 6th Avenue, Apt. No. 207, North Miami, Florida, at about 8:50 Pearce spoke with various uniformed officers at the scene and P.M. found out that the victim had been transported to Jackson Memorial Hospital. Detective Ojeda requested that Pearce secure the scene. Pearce, with the assistance of Detective Thompson, began to search for evidence and document the scene by taking photographs. described various photographs taken of the area and of the A photograph was also taken of the outside of apartment. Defendant's apartment, Apt. No. 309. Pearce also dusted the apartment for latent fingerprints. A sketch of the apartment was also made. The detective testified that \$1200 were inside a chest of drawers in the bedroom. There were also large amounts of jewelry, credit cards and watches. Detective Pearce stated that the signs of disturbance were blood on the floor, a phone lying on the floor in the living room and the open sliding glass doors. There was no evidence of ransacking. (T. 493-520).

Detective Pearce testified that he was able to step from the victim's balcony to the neighboring balcony with little difficulty.

(T. 522). He processed the balcony railings of apartments 206 and

207 with negative results. Pearce also processed the sliding glass doors, the screen door leading to the balcony, the kitchen table, the interior of the front door and the floor of the kitchen. (T. 522-524). Pearce lifted ten possible latent fingerprints. He submitted the latents to the laboratory for analysis." Pearce also collected certain items of evidence, including the victim's clothing lying on the floor, a pair of scissors, the victim's jewelry, money, credit cards and personal belongings from the chest of drawers, the victim's pair of glasses, and blood samples. The detective stated that there was not a lot of blood evidence at the scene. (T. 524-531). 12

Pearce testified that on October 5, 1992, he visited 1575 71st Street, Miami Beach, the home of Defendant's parents. Pearce collected various items including several articles of clothing, a pair of scissors, and an attache case. Pearce also took some photographs of that scene. Pearce described the photographs taken. He collected baseball cap-type hats found inside the bedroom used

Pearce inspected the balcony areas because he had been told that the suspect had left the apartment by dropping from the victim's apartment balcony. (T. 543).

Pearce did not collect any latent prints from the sliding glass doors. (T. 541).

The pair of scissors were collected from the living room floor. The scissors were not submitted either for fingerprint analysis or for serological analysis. (T. 548-549).

No blood samples were collected on the balcony or on the sliding glass doors. (T. 540-541). No blood samples were collected from the back of the door to the apartment. (T. 551).

Pearce was given free access to this apartment by Defendant's father. (T. 553).

by Defendant. Some blood appeared to be on one of Defendant's pants. (T. 531-535).14

Doctor Charles Wetli, Dade County Deputy Chief Medical Examiner, testified that on October 3, 1992, he performed an autopsy on Phyllis Minus. Dr. Wetli took the measurements of the body. It was determined that Minus was a 63 year-old, white female, five feet, five inches tall and weighing 135 pounds. Minus had a slight black eye and numerous bruises, including on the right and left hips, the right leg below the knee, the right arm and forearm, the right side of her chest and back and the right hand. Wetli found eight penetrating stab wounds to the body and minor abrasions to the cheek that appeared to have occurred after death. (T. 569-574).

Dr. Wetli described the photographs taken during the autopsy. The doctor testified that there were three superficial cuts to the left side of the neck probably made with a sharp instrument. Wetli stated that the various stab wounds included of two stab wounds to the neck, A and B. Neither of these wounds was lethal. In addition, stab wounds D and E were to the left breast. Stab wound C went between the ribs, nicked one rib and hit the heart. Stab

Pearce submitted the pants for serological analysis. He also submitted a pair of tennis shoes for analysis. (T. 556-557). On cross-examination, Pearce testified that he was present when blood and saliva samples were taken from Defendant. These samples were submitted for analysis to the crime lab. In addition, Pearce stated that a DNA analysis was conducted on the items collected. (T. 557).

The parties stipulated to legal identification of the victim. (T. 580-581).

wounds F and G were principally superficial and did not cause significant damage. Stab wounds C and D caused one and a half quarts of blood inside the chest cavity, causing the victim's death. (T. 581-585). Wetli also testified that he discovered severe bruising to the brain after removing the victim's scalp. This bruising was most likely caused by blunt force to the head. The doctor determined that a knife was most likely used by the attacker. A pair of scissors could also have been used. (T. 585-587).

Dr. Wetli testified that there was a high likelihood of a small amount of "blood transfer" between the victim and the perpetrator. The attack itself lasted a matter of minutes. In all probability, the attacker and victim faced each other. Dr. Wetli stated that the wounds were consistent with the victim lying on her back. Dr. Wetli found no obvious defensive wounds on the victim. He also found that the attacker was most likely right-handed. (T. 587-593). 16

Virginia Taranco testified that she was living at 13725 N.E. 67th Avenue, Apt. 208, in October, 1992. She stated that Ms. Minas, the victim, lived next to her in apartment #207. On October 2, 1992, between 6 P.M. and 7:55 P.M., Taranco was returning from the band and the grocery store with her mother and Mary Griminger. As Taranco, her mother and Griminger were in the parking area of

Dr. Wetli turned over a portion of the victim's rib to Detective Pearce. This was done so that the rib could be analyzed by the Tool Mark Identification Bureau of the Metro-Dade Police Department. (T. 596).

the apartment complex when they spotted Defendant Jimenez coming down the stairs of the building toward the parking lot. She noticed that Defendant was wearing a multi-colored hat. Taranco knew Defendant as a neighbor. He lived in Apartment #309. Taranco and her mother walked up the stairs to her apartment to unload the groceries. Shortly thereafter, Griminger left to go to her apartment on the third floor. As Taranco watched Griminger go into her apartment, she heard a noise and she started calling out her name fearing that she had fallen. Griminger did not answer. Taranco then heard someone say: "Oh my God. Oh my God." (T. 614-620).

Taranco testified that she heard a second noise, louder than the first. 17 She noticed that the noises were coming from Minas' apartment. She saw that Minas' screen door was ajar. Lecrecia, another neighbor, came out of her apartment and said she also heard a noise. Both Taranco and Lacrecia, fearful that Minas may have had a heart attack, approached her apartment. Both women started calling out to Minas. Lecrecia touched the doorknob and the door opened slightly and then was shut from the inside. Taranco and Lecrecia began banging on the door and calling out Minas' name even harder, but there was no response. They tried to call the apartment by telephone but were unsuccessful. Finally, Taranco went downstairs to see if Minas' car was in the parking lot. Griminger and Lecrecia later went downstairs to look for the car.

Taranco estimated that the two noises were only about one or two minutes apart. (T. 632).

Since there was no answer, the women decided to call the police. After Taranco called the police, she saw Defendant walking from his apartment from the third floor. She noticed that Defendant's hair was pulled back tight. He said: "What's happening?" Lecrecia told him that Minas may have had a heart attack. Defendant asked Taranco's mother to use the phone to call a taxi. (T. 620-625).

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