IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 18 1996

CASE NO. 85,014

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

JOSE ANTONIO JIMENEZ,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

FARIBA N. KOMEILY

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0375934 Department of Legal Affairs Rivergate Plaza, Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131

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

stabs were to the chest cavity, one of the wounds to heart was four (4) inches deep. (T. 584). The deliberate use of a knife to stab a victim multiple times in vital organs, is substantial evidence which clearly supports a finding of premeditation. Preston v. State, 444 So. 2d 939, 944 (Fla. 1984). See also Henry v. State, 574 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1991) ("there was enough evidence to present a jury question on the issue of premeditation, where "the victim was killed by being stabbed thirteen times.").

Finally, the Appellant has also argued that the underlying burglary, in support of the felony murder theory, was not proven, as there was no evidence of a forced entry, and no proof that the victim had not consented to the entry, or that she had expressly demanded that defendant exit her residence. This contention is without merit. First, Section 810.02(1), Florida Statutes (1985), defines the crime of burglary as:

entering or remaining in a structure or a conveyance with the intent to commit an offense therein, unless the premises are at the time open to the public or the defendant is licensed or invited to enter or remain.

"Forced entry" or breaking is not **a** requisite element of the Statute. State v. Hicks, 421 So. 2d 510, 511 (Fla. 1982).

Moreover, "consent to entry is an affirmative defense to, rather

than an essential element of, burglary". 421 So. 2d at 510-11. As noted previously, the defendant herein did not testify or present any evidence that the victim had consented to his entry. Moreover, even if there is an initial consent and lawful entry, "[i]t is undeniably true that a person would not ordinarily tolerate another person remaining in the premises and committing a crime, and that when a victim becomes aware of the commission of a crime, the victim implicitly withdraws consent to the perpetrator's remaining in the premises." Rav v. State, 522 So. 2d 963, 966 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1988). There is no requirement that a victim expressly ask the perpetrator to leave, before it can be concluded that any license to remain on the premises was withdrawn. Id. In sum, there was ample evidence of both premeditated and felony murder in the instant case.

VI.

DEFENDANT'S CLAIMS OF PROSECUTORIAL IMPROPRIETY DURING THE PENALTY PHASE CLOSING ARGUMENT ARE UNPRESERVED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Defendant's first claim with respect to the penalty phase is that he is entitled to resentencing because of allegedly improper remarks made during the prosecutor's summation. Specifically, Defendant argues that (1) the prosecutor urged the jury to consider nonstatutory aggravating factors; (2) the prosecutor

impermissibly informed the jurors that they were required to recommend the death penalty; (3) the prosecutor made an impermissible "message to the community" argument; (4) the prosecutor impermissibly discussed the victim's death; and (5) the prosecutor's argument improperly diminished the jury's role. Each of these claims will be addressed in turn. It will be shown that they have not been preserved for appellate review, that they are without merit, and that, in any event, any purported error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Defendant's first sub-claim is that the prosecutor's discussion of the "catchall" mitigator constituted improper argument of nonstatutory aggravating circumstances. In closing, the prosecutor first discussed the evidence as it related to the aggravators. (T. 1089-91). He then turned to the mitigating circumstances, first addressing the only statutory circumstance proffered by the defense, that Defendant was allegedly unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of law. (T. 1091-93). The prosecutor then quoted the 'catchall" instruction, 19 and summarized the defendant's background evidence (T. 1093), which evidence was

[&]quot;Any other aspect of the defendant's character or record, and any other circumstance of the offense." (T.~1093). This instruction was given to the jury at the defense's request. (T.~1108).

elicited from the defendant's father on direct examination by the defense. (T. 1021-25). The prosecutor then continued, "I hate to compare people, but something you should consider is what has he done in his life--." (T. 1093). Defense counsel interrupted with 'Objection." Id. The objection was sustained, and the prosecutor summed up his argument regarding the nonstatutory mitigation:

In terms of character and record, you can consider that mitigation, any evidence of that whatsoever, and I suggest to you there is not. And again, you as members of our jury will decide what weight you should give this.

(T. 1094). At no point did the defense either request a curative instruction or move for a mistrial. As such, this claim is not preserved for review. Spencer v. State, 645 So. 2d 377, 383 (Fla. 1994) (to preserve issue for review after objection is sustained, counsel must either request a curative instruction or move for mistrial); Riechmann v. State, 581 so. 2d 133, 139 (Fla. 1991) (failure to move to strike, for a curative, or for mistrial after objection to prosecutorial comment was sustained, waived issue for review); Allen v. State, 662 So. 2d 323, 331 (Fla. 1995) (claim prosecutor allegedly argued nonstatutory that aggravating circumstance waived for appeal where not properly preserved below); Sochor v. State, 619 So. 2d 285, 291 (Fla. 1993) (same). Defendant thus may not now raise this claim.

Furthermore, the comments were not improper, but rather a fair comment on the evidence. The defense itself had brought out evidence that despite a caring, loving, stable upbringing and no deficits, Defendant had, from an early **age**, intellectual misbehaved, disobeyed his parents, drunk and used drugs, rejected various school, therapy, and drug rehabilitation programs, generally done nothing worthwhile in his thirty years of life, preceding the murder. (T. 1021-25). The prosecutor was simply summarizing the evidence presented, and pointing out that nothing concerning Defendant's life, during or after childhood, reduced his moral culpability within the meaning of the "catchall" instruction. It should be further noted that the defense had also presented testimony from Dr. Schwartz and proposed that the defendant could be rehabilitated. The prosecutor's summary of the background evidence reminded the jury that the defendant had a history of rejecting all previous attempts at help by his parents, various schools, various drug programs, therapists, and the authorities. As such, the argument also rebutted the non-statutory mitigating factor of rehabilitation proposed by the defense. See, State, 603 So. 2d 1141, 1143 (Fla. 1992) (argument that Defendant was a pedophile not nonstatutory aggravation, but proper comment on evidence presented by defense); Johnson v State 660 So. 2d 637, 646 (Fla. 1995) (argument rebutting proffered defense mitigation proper].

Finally, even assuming, arsuendo, that the comments were improper, any error would be harmless. There were four aggravating circumstances in the instant case: (1) that Defendant had a prior violent felony, wherein he assaulted a police officer and attempted to take his gun; (2) that Defendant was on community control at the time of the murder; (3) that the murder was committed during a burglary; and, (4) that this murder, during which the victim, Defendant's neighbor, was stabbed eight times, was assaulted with a blunt object, and ultimately bled to death while conscious for at least ten minutes, was heinous, atrocious, and cruel. Defendant concedes the existence of the first two aggravators, remaining two were amply supported by the record, as more thoroughly discussed at Point VIII, infra. The only statutory mitigation presented to the jury was the assertion by Dr. Schwartz, founded wholly on Defendant's self-serving statements, that due to crack use on the day of the murder, Defendant was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. As noted by the trial judge, this contention was contrary to the facts of the crime, which showed that Defendant slammed the apartment door in the face of Minas's rescuers and locked it multiple times, then fled through the rear, disposed of the murder weapon and his bloody clothing,

sneaked into his apartment and cleaned himself up. He then emerged clean from his apartment within twenty minutes, calmly inquired of his neighbors what the ruckus was about, and asked one of the people he had locked out of the apartment to call a cab. The only other nonstatutory mitigation ultimately argued was that Defendant could be rehabilitated²⁰ and that he would probably never get out of prison if sentenced to life.

Additionally, the jury was instructed that the enumerated aggravators were the only ones they could consider. (T. 1107). The trial court likewise stated that it did not consider any aggravating circumstance not enumerated in its sentencing order. (R. 533). The trial court found that the aggravation "remarkably" outweighed the mitigation. (R. 542-43). There is thus simply no possibility that the brief comments could have affected the sentence herein. In view of the foregoing, any alleged error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Allen, 662 So. 2d at 331 (any improper argument harmless in view of strong aggravation, minimal mitigation and trial court's statement that it only considered statutory aggravating circumstances); Sochor, 619 So. 2d at 291

The contention that Defendant could be rehabilitated was rebutted by his prior history of 2 juvenile and 10 adult offenses, as well as his violation of community control. (T. 1006, 1056). Furthermore, he had a history of rejecting all previous attempts at help by both his parents and the authorities. (T. 1026-28, 1058).

(improper comments harmless where when considered in their totality, they did not "pinpoint" a nonstatutory aggravator).

The Appellant next asserts that the prosecutor improperly argued that the jury was required to return a recommendation of death. First, the comments at issue were not objected to, on any grounds. There were no motions for mistrial at any time, either. As such, the Appellant's claim is not preserved for appeal and is procedurally barred. Ferguson v. State, 417 So. 2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1986); Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857, 964 (Fla. 1987). In any event, the instant claim is also without merit. The complained of comments are as follows:

[W]e're not here to discuss the issue of the death penalty. Our legislature made a decision for you, like it or not, and no one wants to participate in a process where a life will be taken...

It's not an easy task we're asking you to do... you
promised you would follow the law, whether or not you
like the law...

If you find the aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating circumstances, there's only one recommendation you can come back with...

(T. 1095). Taken in context the prosecutor was plainly stating that the propriety of the capital punishment, in general, as opposed to in this particular case, was within the legislative domain and not the jury's; that, regardless of the jurors' individual beliefs regarding the propriety of capital punishment,

the question has been settled by the legislature, and the jurors' only duty was to apply the law as it exists. This was a proper statement of the law. See Johnson, 660 So. 2d at 646 (the propriety of capital punishment per se is not a proper subject for the jury's consideration).

Likewise, the prosecutor's statement that if the jurors found that the aggravators outweighed the mitigating circumstances, there was "only one recommendation" they could return was also a proper statement of the law. In essence, Defendant is complaining that the jurors were informed that they could not grant a jury pardon. A capital sentencing jury, however, does not have unfettered discretion. Dousan v. State, 595 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1992); see also Saffle v. Parks, 494 U.S. 484, 110 S. Ct. 1257, 1262-63, 108 L. Ed. 2d 415 (1990) ("the State must not cut off full and fair consideration of mitigating evidence; but it need not grant the jury the choice to make the sentencing decision according to its own whims or caprice"). The claim that the jury was improperly led to believe that it arbitrarily "had to" impose the death penalty is thus without merit. On the contrary, the prosecutor merely informed the jurors of matters which they should not consider in their deliberations, instead focusing their attention on the circumstances of the crime and Defendant's record, and advising

them of the appropriate sentence under Florida law if the aggravation outweighed the mitigation. This was proper. Finally, even if any error occurred it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. As noted above, the mitigation was minimal and the four aggravating circumstances, 'remarkably" outweighed it, as noted by the trial judge. There is no reasonable possibility that the outcome would have been different if the brief comments at issue were not made.

The Appellant next asserts that the prosecutor's unobjectedto comments also constituted a "message to the community" argument,
in violation of Campbell v. State, 21 Fla.L.Weekly S287 (Fla., June
27, 1996). This court has disapproved of 'message to the
community" comments, but has not deemed same to be fundamental
error. See Bertolotti v. State, 476 So. 2d 130, 133 (Fla. 1985);
Crump v. State, 622 So. 2d 963, 971-72 (Fla. 1993). In Campbell a
specific objection was raised in the court below and the comment,
in conjunction with an inflammatory evidentiary presentation and
arguments thereon, led to a new sentencing hearing. The instant
claim is not in the same posture and is thus unpreserved for
appeal. Berlotti, Crump, susra. Moreover, such comments, in the
absence of other circumstances, even if deemed preserved, are not
so outrageous as to taint the sentence of death. Crump, 622 So. 2d

at 972. In any event, the State would note that in the instant case, there was no mention of any "message" to the community in the prosecutor's comments. The prosecutor stated:

You sit as an advisory board to this Court. You tell the judge how you feel about this crime, and we have young people and people not so young, African Americans, Latins, people from all walks of life. You tell the court how you feel about this crime, and we are not talking about any other crime or what goes on outside of this courtroom. We are only concerned with this charge. You tell the Court what society's reaction is to this crime, and what the punishment should be.

(emphasis added). As is clear from the above, the (T. 1094) prosecutor in no way referred to anything transpiring out of court, let alone the community at large. The above comments are in accordance with this Court's precedents. See Grossman, 525 So. 2d 833, 846 (Fla. 1988) (the jury's recommendation in Florida reflects the 'conscience of the community."); see also Richardson v. State, 437 so. 2d 936, 942 (Fla. 1983) (same); McCampbell v. State, 421 So. 2d 1072, 1075 (Fla. 1982) (jury's recommendation represents 'the judgment of the community as to whether the death sentence is appropriate..."); Odom V. State, 403 so. 2d 936, 942 (Fla. 1981) (same). Finally, given the afore-cited balance of the aggravating and mitigating evidence, and the overall argument with which the jury was presented, it cannot reasonably be said that absent the above-cited comments the outcome of the proceedings would be different. As such any purported error would be harmless.

Defendant next asserts that reversal is required because the prosecutor stated that the victim was not afforded the protection of the law before she was killed. (B. 73, T. 1095). Again, this claim is unpreserved in that Defendant did not object to the comment in the court below. Ferguson, Craig, Supra. Furthermore, even assuming that the claim was properly before the court, the comment, although not ideal, was brief, and not made a feature of the argument. The bulk of the prosecutor's argument was devoted to the aggravating and mitigating factors and the weight which should be ascribed to them. The entirety of the argument, combined with the afore-cited balance of the aggravating and mitigating evidence herein, compel the conclusion that any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson, 522 So. 2d at 809 (similar comments held not sufficiently egregious to warrant a new sentencing).

Defendant's final contention is that the jury's role was diminished because the prosecutor informed the jury that its sentence was advisory. Again, there was no objection to the comments at issue and this claim is unpreserved. Sochor, 619 So. 2d at 291 (alleged Caldwell error must be raised below to be considered on appeal); Ferguson, Craiq, Supra. Further, even were

The word appears as "adversary" in the transcript. Read in context, this is obviously a typographical error. (T. 1094).

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